ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 14 2014

Case No. 2007-CP-42-296
Appellate Case No. 2014-001151

SC Court of Appeals

Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company,
and Gilliam Construction Company, Inc..... Respondents,

v.

Eagle Windows & Doors, Inc., Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

G. Dana Sinkler
S.C. Bar No. 5138
Gibbs & Holmes, PC
171 Church St., Suite 110
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 224-1758
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

WITH RESPECT TO SUCCESSION LIABILITY

1. WAS THE FINDING OF LAW MADE BY JUDGE HAYES AT PAGE 14 OF HIS ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN ERROR WHEN HE RULED: “. . . A SUCCESSOR CORPORATION IS A MERE CONTINUATION OF ITS PREDECESSOR WHEN THE PREDECESSOR AND SUCCESSOR CORPORATIONS HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME OFFICERS, DIRECTORS OR SHAREHOLDERS. (CITING SIMMONS V. MARKLIFT INDUSTRIES, INC., 366 S.C. 308, 622 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2005) (EMPHASIS ADDED) BASED ON THE LANGUAGE USED BY THE COURT IN SIMMONS, TO PROVE THAT A MERE CONTINUATION EXISTS, A PARTY NEED ONLY SHOW THAT THE SUCCESSOR CORPORATION HAS SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME OFFICERS, DIRECTORS OR SHAREHOLDERS; THUS PROVING THAT A SUCCESSOR CORPORATION HAS SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME OFFICERS IS SUFFICIENT TO PROVE A MERE CONTINUATION.” (R. p. 16)

2. WAS THE FINDING OF LAW MADE BY JUDGE HAYES AT PAGES 15, 16 OF HIS ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN ERROR WHEN HE RULED: “EAGLE FOCUSES ON LINSALATA AND THE OFFICERS, SHAREHOLDERS OR DIRECTORS OF LINSALATA. LINSALATA IS NOT A PARTY TO THIS ACTION. PLAINTIFFS SUED EAGLE, NOT LINSALATA. EAGLE IS THE PROPER ENTITY THAT SHOULD BE ANALYZED IN DETERMINING THAT EAGLE IS A MERE CONTINUATION OF EAGLE.” (R. pp. 17-18)

WITH RESPECT TO CONTRIBUTION

1. WERE THE RESPONDENTS ENTITLED TO ANY RECOVERY AT ALL FROM THE APPELLANT WHEN THEY FAILED TO PLEAD OR PROVE A DESIGN OR MANUFACTURING DEFECT IN THE WINDOWS?

2. WERE THE RESPONDENTS ENTITLED TO RECOVER \$25,000.00 FOR WAIVER BY GILLIAM CONSTRUCTION OF AMOUNTS CLAIMED IN THEIR COMPLAINT TO BE STILL DUE AND OWING WHEN THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND MUTUAL RELEASE ATTACHED TO THE COMPLAINT, RELEASED THE ABELS FROM ANY AND ALL OBLIGATIONS TO PAY ANY MONIES AT ALL?

3. DID COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENTS HAVE THE RIGHT TO UNILATERALLY RELEASE APPELLANTS' CO-DEFENDANTS?

4. DID THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY DETERMINE THE AMOUNT THE APPELLANT SHOULD PAY IN CONTRIBUTION GIVEN THE PROVISIONS OF THE APPLICABLE STATUTE AND SETTLEMENTS FROM BOTH THE SELLER OF THE WINDOWS AND THE STUCCO APPLICATOR?

5. DID THE TRIAL JUDGE ERR IN ALLOWING PREJUDGMENT INTEREST WHEN, AT THE TIME THE CLAIM WAS MADE, THE SUM WAS NOT DEMANDABLE NOR WAS THE MEASURE OF RECOVERY FIXED?

STATEMENT OF CASE

By their complaint, Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company (hereinafter "Nationwide") and its insured, Gilliam Construction Company, Inc. (hereinafter "Gilliam"), seek to impose successor liability on Eagle Window & Door Manufacturing, Inc. (hereinafter "Eagle, Inc.") for alleged defects in windows installed in a home constructed by Gilliam in 1999 and 2000 in Spartanburg, South Carolina for Renaul Abel and Karen Abel (hereinafter "the Abels").

After the project was completed and the named Defendants, as subcontractors and material suppliers, had completed their work, the Abels allegedly discovered deficiencies and defects in the home and its components and invoked the arbitration clause of the construction contract with Gilliam. None of the named Defendants participated in the arbitration proceedings, which were ultimately settled by Nationwide and Gilliam for \$210,000.00, as established by the Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release attached to the Plaintiffs' complaint as Exhibit A. (R. p. 28)

Thereafter, pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-28-20, Nationwide and Gilliam instituted the present action seeking contribution from the Defendants for "their share" of the settlement proceeds paid by Nationwide on behalf of Gilliam. The Defendants included American Architectural Products Corporation, Window and Door Concepts, Inc., Charles Goad, Hobbit Plastering, Inc., Phillip L. Bender, Upstate Waterproofing, Inc., Dale Coleman and Gary Churchill. All of the

Defendants subsequently settled, with the exception of Eagle, Inc., which denied its responsibility for any part of the settlement based on the terms of the Asset Sale Agreement approved by the Bankruptcy Court for purchase of the assets of the company which had originally sold the windows to a distributor which, in turn, sold them to Gilliam for the Abels' home; the windows were not manufactured or sold by the Defendant Eagle, Inc.

History Leading to the Sale of the Assets of Eagle to its Present Owner

The windows, which are the subject of this claim for the imposition of successor liability, were sold to the Defendant Window and Door Concepts, Inc. by a Delaware corporation chartered under the name of Eagle & Taylor Company, which then did business as Eagle Window & Door, Inc. (a fictitious name). (See Affidavit of Andrew Wickham, Exhibit A-2 to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. pp. 126-127)

Eagle & Taylor Company, the Delaware corporation, was one of a number of wholly owned subsidiaries of American Architectural Products Company ("AAPC"), a publicly traded Delaware corporation. (See Exhibit A-2 to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. pp. 126-127)

During the years August 1997 through August 1, 2003, Jonathan K. Schoenike was employed by AAPC as its General Counsel. During all relevant times he was also the General Counsel for each and every subsidiary company of AAPC. In October 1997, he became Secretary of AAPC and each and every subsidiary company of AAPC and held that position through August 1, 2003.

(See Affidavit of Jonathan K. Schoenike, Exhibit B-2 to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. pp. 130-131)

Commencing in August 1997, the officers of Eagle & Taylor Company included Frank Amedia as CEO, Dale Tucker as President, Joseph Dominijanni as Treasurer and James Phillips as Secretary. In October 1997, Jonathan Schoenike replaced James Phillips as Secretary. In 1999, David Beeken replaced Dale Tucker as President. In 1999, David Wolfe became the Assistant Secretary. In May 2001, Joseph Dominijanni replaced Frank Amedia as CEO and became CEO and Treasurer. (See Exhibit B-6 to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. p. 131)

Throughout all relevant times, Eagle & Taylor Company operated two separate divisions; Eagle Window & Door, Inc. and Taylor Building Products, Inc., both fictitious entities. Neither division was ever incorporated. (See Exhibit B-7 to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. pp. 131-132)

Other individuals were identified as officers of Eagle Window & Door, Inc., but none of those officers, except for David Beeken, served as an officer of Eagle & Taylor Company. (See Exhibit B-8 to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. p. 132)

In December of 2000, AAPC filed for reorganization under the United States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division. As part of the bankruptcy case, AAPC, through its wholly owned subsidiary Eagle & Taylor Company sought and obtained

permission from the Bankruptcy Court to sell to EWD Acquisition Co., a Delaware corporation wholly owned by Linsalata Capital Partners Fund IV, L.P. ("LinCap IV"), an Ohio Limited Partnership, substantially all of the assets of its division, Eagle Window & Door, Inc. (See Order of Bankruptcy Court dated April 19, 2002, Exhibit C to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. pp. 134-144) In May of 2002, the assets of Eagle & Taylor were sold to EWD Acquisition Co., wholly owned by LinCap IV. At that time, there were only two Directors of AAPC, to wit: George Hofmeister and Joseph Dominijanni. Mr. Hofmeister owned between 72% and 73% of the company. Mr. Dominijanni owned 5% of the company. Neither David Beeken, nor any of the other officers of the fictitiously named division Eagle Window & Door, Inc. had any control of AAPC and if any of those officers had any stock in AAPC at all, it would not have amounted to more than between one tenth of one-hundredth percent to one-hundredth percent of AAPC. (See Exhibit B-9-11 to Appellant's Memorandum in Support to Motion for Summary Judgment, R. p. 132)

All equity interests in AAPC were eliminated through the plan of reorganization approved by the Bankruptcy Court in the Bankruptcy case for the benefit of the creditors of AAPC. (See Exhibit B-12 to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. p. 133)

The purchaser of the assets of Eagle & Taylor was LinCap IV through EWD Acquisition Co. (See Exhibit C, page 2, R. p. , and Press Release of AAPC dated May 8, 2002, Exhibit D to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. p. 135) None of the partners of Linsalata had any

connection with or ownership of Eagle & Taylor Company or AAPC. (See Exhibit A-11 and Exhibit B-14. to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. p. 128, 133)

Title to the assets was conveyed to EWD Acquisition Co. ("EWD"), a Delaware corporation created by LinCap IV. Thereafter, EWD changed its name to Eagle Window & Door, Inc.

In 2005, Andersen Corporation purchased Eagle, Inc. from Linsalata and it is now a wholly owned subsidiary of Andersen. In 2007, Eagle Window & Door, Inc. changed its name to Eagle Window & Door Manufacturing, Inc.

ARGUMENTS

Successor liability was first considered by the Supreme Court of South Carolina in the case of Brown v. American Ry. Express Co., 128 S.C. 428, 123 S.E. 97 (1924). In that suit, Brown, a customer of the Southern Express Company, brought an action against American to recover damages for the failure of Southern to deliver part of a shipment of automobile tires received by Southern for delivery to him. The trial court "held substantially that because the defendant [American] had acquired and taken over the business of [Southern] it should be held liable as a matter of law for the delicts and debts of its predecessor on grounds of public policy." 123 S.E. 98. The Supreme Court reversed, holding that:

In the absence of statute, in order to render a purchasing company liable for the debts of the selling corporation, it must appear: (a) that there was an agreement to assume such debts; (b) the circumstances surrounding the transaction must

warrant a finding that there was a consolidation of the two corporations; (c) or that the purchasing corporation was a mere continuation of the selling corporation; or (d) that the transfer was pretensive or the transaction fraudulent in fact.” 123 S.E. 98,99.

Not until 2005 did the Supreme Court have another occasion to consider the issue of successor liability. In Simmons v. Mark Lift Industries, Inc., 366 S.C. 308, 622 S.E.2d 213 (2005), in response to a request from Judge Matthew Perry of the United States District Court of South Carolina, pursuant to Rule 228, SCACR, the Court granted certification from the District Court to address the following questions which are pertinent to the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by counsel for Eagle, Inc.

1. May a plaintiff maintain a product liability claim in South Carolina under a successor liability theory against a defendant which purchased only assets of a voluntarily bankrupt selling company in an arms-length and court-approved bankruptcy sale and the purchasing company did not approve of, participate in, cause, or contribute to the selling company’s bankruptcy?

2. In the product liability context in South Carolina, what test is employed to determine whether there is successor liability of a company which purchased the assets of an unrelated company?

In Simmons, Plaintiff brought a products liability suit which was removed to Federal Court for injuries he sustained on August 9, 1999, when an elevated scissorlift aerial work platform supporting him collapsed. The platform had been designed, manufactured and sold in 1990 by Mark Industries, Inc. (Mark), a California corporation.

In July of 1991, Mark had filed for bankruptcy and the bankruptcy court entered an order on November 6, 1991 granting Mark's motion to sell specified assets for adequate consideration. Terex Corporation (Terex) was the winning bidder of the assets at an auction the next day. Following the auction, Mark and Terex entered into a purchase agreement providing, inter alia, that the sale was free and clear of liens and claims and there was no assumption of liability for products manufactured or sold to Mark. The assets purchased by Terex included the inventory of supplies, raw materials, work in progress, finished goods, trademarks, service marks, trade names, goodwill and all intellectual property, such as drawings, designs, blueprints, patents, licenses and technology.

In considering the two questions posed by Judge Perry, the Supreme Court found the following facts:

1. Simmons brought a product liability action in state court against Mark Industries, Inc., Terex Corp. (Terex), Lift Industries, Inc. and BPS. The case was removed to Federal Court.
2. Simmons was injured in a construction accident which occurred on August 9, 1999, when an aerial work platform collapsed.
3. The aerial work platform was designed, manufactured and sold by Mark Industries, Inc. (Mark) in 1990.
4. On July 15, 1991, Mark filed for Chapter 11 Bankruptcy.
5. The Bankruptcy Court entered a written order dated November 6, 1991 granting Mark's motion to sell certain assets and proceeded to hold a court-supervised public auction of assets.

6. Terex submitted the highest bid at public auction.
7. Terex and Mark entered into an arms-length Purchase Agreement for specified assets. Under the Agreement, the assets purchased by Terex included the inventory of supplies, raw materials, work in progress, finished goods, trademarks, service marks, trade names, goodwill, all intellectual property such as drawings, blueprints, patents, licenses and technology.
8. On November 13, 1991, the Bankruptcy Court approved the auction.
9. On December 5, 1991, Terex created Lift Industries, a separately incorporated subsidiary, and assigned its rights under the Purchase Agreement to Lift Industries.
10. Between December 10, 1991 and September 1992, Terex, through its wholly owned subsidiary Lift Industries, rehired many former Mark employees and started the construction of aerial work platforms that were comparable to the one involved in Simmons' accident.
11. Prior to the bankruptcy auction and order, neither Terex nor Lift Industries had any business relationship with Mark until purchasing its assets in the Bankruptcy Court auction. There has never been any commonality of officers, directors, or stockholders between Mark and Terex. (Emphasis the Court's)

Based on these facts, the Supreme Court advised the United States District Court that it could decide the case in accordance with existing South Carolina authority, assigning a footnote to Exception (3) (the successor company

was a mere continuation of the predecessor). The footnote referenced the 12 page dissent of Justice Burnett and held:

Essentially, the dissent advocates an expansion of the mere continuation exception. However, as noted by the dissent, the majority of courts interpreting the mere continuation exception have found it applicable only when there is commonality of ownership, *i.e.*, the predecessor and successor corporations have the same officers, directors, or shareholders. We decline to extend the exception to cases in which there is no such commonality of officers, directors and shareholders. (Emphasis added)

The second sentence of this paragraph beginning with “only when” is an exact replica of Justice Burnett’s Dissent at page 316.

In Simmons, after the certified questions were answered by the Supreme Court, Judge Perry granted the motion of Terex for summary judgment, holding, on the basis of Simmons:

In the present case, there is no commonality of officers, directors, and shareholders. The parties have certified that Terex did not have any business relationship with Mark until the purchase of assets supervised by the Bankruptcy Court. In addition, there is no, nor has there ever been, commonality of the officers, directors or stockholders between Terex or Lift Industries and Mark. Therefore the facts cannot support a finding that a ‘mere continuation’ exception applies. (Emphasis added)

(See Opinion of Judge Perry, Exhibit A to Appellant Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. pp. 167-168)

The rulings of law articulated by Judge Hayes are in error and completely eviscerate the opinion of the Supreme Court in Simmons by establishing a test for successor liability which would allow a finding of successor liability based on

the existence of any one of the three tests enumerated by the Supreme Court, i.e. commonality of officers or commonality of directors or commonality of shareholders. The Supreme Court did not use the disjunctive or but instead used the conjunctive and, as did Judge Perry. Obviously, commonality of ownership could not be determined without consideration of stockholders who usually own all of the corporation.

The Court of Appeals in Walton v. Mazda of Rock Hill, 376 S.C. 301, 657 S.E.2d 67 (2008) confirmed the Supreme Court's holding, stating: "In Simmons v. Marklift Industries, Inc. the South Carolina Supreme Court declined to extend the mere continuation exception to situations where there is no commonality between officers, directors and shareholders of the sellers and purchasers." This was binding precedent for the lower court, but not even mentioned.

But not only did the Circuit Judge apply the wrong test to the evidence before him, he compounded his error by refusing to recognize the identity of the predecessor and the successor, i.e. AAPC/Eagle & Taylor Company and LinCap IV/EWD Acquisition.

It does not matter that Linsalata is not a party to the suit. The Court has to focus on the "predecessor and successor" in order to determine whether there existed commonality of ownership between those two parties before the bankruptcy.

AAPC owned all of Eagle & Taylor Company and determined to sell its assets to generate sufficient capital to pay its creditors and continue in business. It was the predecessor or seller. LinCap IV owned all of EWD Acquisition and

was the successor or purchaser. (See Asset Sale Agreement attached as Exhibit 1 to Corrected Exhibit A to Appellant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, R. pp. 59-122)

PROOF SUBMITTED BY EAGLE

Eagle obtained and filed with the lower court, 3 affidavits establishing that, pre-bankruptcy, there was no relationship between AAPC and its' wholly owned subsidiary, Eagle & Taylor Company or any of their employees and Linsalata Capital Partners Fund, IV, (LinCap) which, through its wholly owned subsidiary, EWD Acquisitions Co., on April 15, 2002 became the successful bidder for substantially all the assets of Eagle & Taylor Company for \$64,750,000.00. The facts set forth in the affidavits have never been questioned and the Plaintiff has offered no affidavits or taken any discovery to dispute them.

When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.

The first affidavit was from Andrew Wickham. He is currently the Finance and Business Integration Manager of Eagle Window & Door Manufacturing, Inc., a Delaware corporation originally created on April 10, 2002 by Linsalata Capital Partners Fund, IV, L.P. as EWD Acquisition Co. After the asset purchase, by amendment dated May 1, 2002, EWD Acquisition Co. changed its name to Eagle Window & Door, Inc. (Eagle Inc.).

Mr. Wickham's affidavit establishes that:

“7. None of the officers of Eagle were officers, directors or shareholders of LinCap or any of the three corporations created by it in conjunction with the Eagle asset purchase until after the sale of the assets to EWD Acquisition, Inc. which changed its name to Eagle Window & Door, Inc.” (Emphasis Added) (R. p. 127)

This was identical to what happened in the Simmons case as confirmed by the Supreme Court’s findings in the last paragraph of the Court’s Factual/Procedural Background.

“8. Effective May 6, 2002, Stephen B. Perry, the Senior Vice President and CFO of Linsalata Capital Partners Fund IV, LP, the then sole Director of Eagle Window & Door, Inc. (Eagle, Inc.), which was the successor by name change of EWD Acquisition, Inc., removed the existing officers of Eagle, Inc. and appointed himself as Chairman and the following officers:

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