THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, Presiding Judge Seventh Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No.: 2014-001151

Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company,
and Gilliam Construction Company, Inc.....Respondents,

v.

Eagle Windows & Doors, Inc.....Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Jason M. Imhoff (SC Bar #: 69355)
C. Reed Teague (SC Bar #: 79933)
The Ward Law Firm, PA
PO Box 5663
Spartanburg, SC 29304
jimhoff@wardfirm.com
rteague@wardfirm.com

Attorney for Respondents

RECEIVED

FEB 06 2015

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court was correct in holding that Eagle Windows and Doors, Inc. was a mere continuation of predecessor corporation and thus subject to successor liability

The lower court properly found that the Appellant, Eagle, was a mere continuation of its predecessor corporation. In South Carolina, a Plaintiff may maintain a state-based product liability claim under a successor liability theory against a successor corporation which purchased a predecessor's assets in a voluntary sale approved by the Federal Bankruptcy Court. *Simmons v.*

Marklift Industries, Inc., 366 S.C. 308, 622 S.E.2d 213 (2005); *Brown v. American Ry. Express Co.*, 128 S.C. 428, 123 S.E. 97 (1924). The South Carolina Supreme Court in *Brown* stated:

In the absence of a statute, a successor or purchasing company ordinarily is not liable for the debts of a predecessor or selling company unless (1) there was an agreement to assume such debts, (2) the circumstances surrounding the transaction warrants a finding of a consolidation or merger of the two corporations, (3) the successor company was a mere continuation of the predecessor, or (4) the transaction was entered into fraudulently for the purpose of wrongfully defeating creditors' claims. *Id.* at 123 S.E.2d 97 (emphasis added). The test used to determine whether a successor corporation is a mere continuation of its predecessor was set forth in *Simmons v. Marklift Industries, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 308, 313, 622 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2005). That court held that a successor corporation is a mere continuation of its predecessor corporation when the predecessor and successor corporations have substantially the same officers, directors, or shareholders. *Simmons v. Marklift Industries, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 308, 313, 622 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2005).

At the trial of this case, the Circuit Court heard testimony and received evidence establishing that Appellant's pre- and post-bankruptcy corporations had many of the same officers, directors, and shareholders and ruled that, "The predecessors and successor Eagle companies shared directors, officers, and shareholders" as a finding of fact. David Beeken, Andrew Wickham, Ronald Vander Weerd, Charles Daoud, and Steven R. Stoppelmoor were shareholders of Eagle Windows prior to and after the sale of the company. (R.p. 3-22) Eagle's President, David Beeken, was the President of Eagle prior to and after the sale. (R.p. 3-22) Further, prior to and after the sale, the following individuals were officers of Eagle: Charles A.

Daoud, David Beeken, Steven R. Stoppelmoor, Ronald Vander Weerd and Andrew Wickham.
(R.p 2-22)

Thus, post-sale, of the eight officers appointed to lead Eagle, five of the eight were officers of pre-sale Eagle, including President, Vice President, Vice President of Finance, Vice President of Engineering and Controller. Further, David Beeken, Charles Daoud, Steven R. Stoppelmoor, Ronald Vander Weerd, Gregory Taber, and Andrew Wickham were directors of Appellant pre- and post-bankruptcy. As the evidence supported the Court's findings, the court's ruling should not be disturbed.

The mere continuation exception seeks to prohibit corporations from changing hats for the sole purpose of escaping debts and liabilities if the predecessor and successor corporation are just a mere continuation of the same entity. The exception utilizes the test enunciated in *Simmons* to determine if the predecessor and successor are a mere continuation as shown by the overlap of officers, directors, and shareholders. Justice Burnett stated "[t]he corporate fiction and the rules surrounding it have been of inestimable service in the affairs of business, but they must be applied in such a manner as to promote justice, not to hinder or defeat it." *Id.* at 323 (citing *Long v Carolina Baking Co.*, 190 S.C. 367, 377, 3 S.E.2d 46, 50 (1939)). Justice Burnett, citing another case with similar facts cited the strong language used by that Court:

The [successor's] position does not appeal to us; it is an attempt to dodge the damages that [the plaintiff] has sustained by a quirk and technical question of law, and smacks too much of a skin game, and hand stacked and dealt to dealer from the bottom of the deck...By its action [the successor] has allowed the [predecessor] to go out of existence and now proposes to let the [plaintiff] whistle for his money, and by its technicality, which would besmirch the character of any honest man, smacks its lips and licks its chops and congratulates itself on its shrewdness in avoiding its payment of a just claim.

Simmons v. Mark Lift Indus., Inc., 366 S.C. 308, 318, 622 S.E.2d 213, 218 (2005) at 318 (citing *Brabham v. Southern Express Co.*, 124 S.C. 157, 117 S.E. at 368 (1922)).

This decision is in line with the majority of other jurisdictions and comports with the doctrines of fairness and justice. Justice Burnett strenuously opined that the stroke of a corporate pen or blind adherence to unfair rules out of touch with modern realities did not promote justice or allow intelligent adjudication of issues which touched upon the Bankruptcy Court's perceived jurisdiction.

Although the *Simmons* court denied Justice Burnett's request for clarification, it is important to note that it analyzed many of the elements cited by Justice Burnett. That court recorded that the predecessor corporation only operated the manufacturing facility for several months and then closed the plant. It then relocated the assets and equipment to another state. Only three employees of the predecessor continued with the successor and none were officers or directors. Further, the successor corporation operated under a different name than the predecessor corporation and both were defendants in the lawsuit.

This case is substantially different as the Defendant in this case is both the successor and predecessor corporation and both have the same name. Additionally, the evidence reflects that there was no change in operation, facilities, name, or products at Eagle. The directors and officers were and still are essentially the same even through another sale. Appellant's marketing materials indicate that nothing has changed at Eagle and it considered itself autonomous from both AAPC and Linsalata. In this case, the successor corporation has the same name, location, leadership, manufacturing facility, employees, and products and holds itself out as a continuation of a company founded in 1886. Appellant even admitted in its marketing material that Linsalata "to a great extent takes a handoff approach to running a successful companies like Eagle". "We work closely with management teams in developing and buying into the strategies, but it is up to management to utilize that strategy and manage that capital wisely to grow the

business...without the appropriate level of autonomy it would be difficult for the team to approach that". Appellant did not consider Linsalata as the face of Eagle, but rather simply another parent company in a long list of parent companies. Eagle represented itself as consistent and able to make it through this "vast series of name changes" due to its President's "leadership and commitment." That President, Mr. Beeken, is the same president that runs it today. Eagle continues to occupy the same space, manufacture the same products with the same employees, and markets, manufactures, and continues to sell the same products under the same company name. Appellant accepted the goodwill and name recognition of the Eagle Window brand but has specifically attempted to extinguish any potential liability arising from that goodwill despite its complete failure to notify owners of Eagle windows manufactured, marketed, and sold prior to April 2002 that it no longer honored those products or claimed them as its own.

Eagle, by the stroke of a pen, attempted to end its liability globally, totally, and permanently although there was no financial need to do so. Eagle was not forced into bankruptcy by economics, but rather was dragged through it by its parent company's bankruptcy. As such, the ordinary purpose of bankruptcy was not present for Eagle. Ordinarily bankruptcy's purpose is to provide the debtor with a fresh start, freeing it from the obligations and responsibilities consequent upon financial misfortune so that it may continue to survive. CJS Bankruptcy § 2. In this case, Eagle was American's only profitable company. Eagle did not require the intervention of the Bankruptcy Court or the protection afforded by it. Therefore, it should not be allowed to use its parent company's fortuitous bankruptcy as a sword with which to sever its entire pre-bankruptcy obligations.

Appellant's argument that *Simmons* requires a finding that the mere continuation doctrine requires overlap of officers, directors, **and** shareholders is moot and without merit. As the court

found that officers, directors, and shareholders were shared between the corporations, the analysis is unnecessary. (R.p 3-22) It is clear in this case that each of the requirements is satisfied and Eagle, in fact, did continue its operation with all of the same leaders, employees, facilities, products, designs, and marketing materials. The lower court found that the analysis of whether the *Brown* and *Simmons* courts intended overlap of officers and directors or officers or directors was unnecessary because the Respondents proved, and the Appellant did not refute, that officers, directors, and shareholder continued in the successor corporation from the predecessor corporation. Therefore, the lower court properly found that Appellant's commonality of officers, directors, and shareholders in both the predecessor and successor was sufficient to satisfy the mere continuation exception and deem it liable in this action. Appellant's argument should be denied and the Circuit Court's finding that Eagle is a mere continuation of Eagle should be upheld.

II. The lower court was correct in holding that successor liability looks to the predecessor and successor corporation, not its parent corporation

The court's focus on the pre and post-bankruptcy Eagle corporations was required by the rulings in *Simmons* and *Brown*. The rulings in *Simmons* and *Brown* require an analysis of the predecessor and successor corporations, not an analysis of their parent or subsidiary corporations. Appellant's focus on Linsalata and the officers, shareholders and directors of Linsalata is misplaced and fails to understand the purpose of the exception. Linsalata was not a party to this action. Respondents sued Eagle, not Linsalata. In fact, Linsalata has since sold Eagle and it is now owned by Anderson windows, yet the officers in place in 2000 are still in place today. The Court properly held that Eagle was the proper entity to analyze in determining that Eagle is a mere continuation of the same corporation.

Appellant's argument that the court should look to some other corporation, not the corporation accused of being a mere continuation, is illogical. Appellant's concern about the ownership and leadership of the corporation is addressed by the test itself. The test specifically looks at overlap of officers, directors, and shareholders. An analysis of a completely separate corporation to find overlap would defeat the purpose of the analysis in the first place. Instead, the test used by the exception looks directly at the corporation accused and evaluates whether it retained the same officers, directors, and shareholders and thus continued to conduct business as usual while trying to escape debts and liabilities. There is no need to climb the corporate chain of ownership looking at various boards, shareholders, and stakeholders in a never ending process.

Therefore, as indicated by the Circuit Court, based upon the evidence and testimony, Eagle was the appropriate entity to analyze for the mere continuation doctrine and was a mere continuation of its identically named predecessor. Therefore, Appellant's argument that the Circuit Court erred in its finding of a mere continuation should be denied. As the evidence supported the court's findings, the court's ruling should not be disturbed.

III. The lower court was correct in finding that Respondents submitted sufficient evidence to establish that the windows manufactured by Appellant caused the damage at issue in this lawsuit

Respondents submitted unrefuted and unchallenged evidence that the windows manufactured by Appellant were defective and caused the damages at issue in the case. Further, Appellant offered no evidence of its own to contradict the evidence submitted by Respondents. At trial, Respondents submitted testimony from expert Randy Still and from the owner of Gilliam Construction, Phillip Gilliam. Randy Still was qualified, without objection, as an expert in residential construction, building envelope, and building products including windows. (R.p

237-238) Mr. Still performed destructive investigation of the home at issue to look for defects causing water infiltration, performed moisture testing with moisture meter, and performed water tests on the windows. (R.p 239) As a result of his testing, Mr. Still found that, "the corners of the windows leaked in the miter joint" (R.p 242) Mr. Still further testified that the windows were not supposed to leak and therefore the windows were defective. (R.p. 245) He further testified that the leaking and defective windows caused damage to the home. (R.p. 247) Finally, Mr. Still testified that the leaking windows necessitated the entire scope of repair for the home. (R.p. 253)

Additionally, Mr. Gilliam was qualified, without objection, as an expert in residential construction, building envelopes, and building products. (Supp. R. p. 5, lines 14-25 and Supp. R. p. 6, lines 17-22.) Mr. Gilliam testified that he performed an investigation of the home and the cause of water intrusion and found that the windows leaked at the miter joint of the frame. (Supp. R.p. 9, line 12) Based upon his investigation and experience he found that the windows were defective. (Supp. R.p. 10, lines 13-19.) He further testified that he personally inspected all of the windows when they arrived and they were not damaged. (Supp. R.p. 23, lines 11-23.) As the evidence supported the court's findings, the court's ruling should not be disturbed.

IV. The lower court was correct in awarding \$25,000.00 waived by Respondents as consideration for the underlying settlement

Any damages suffered by Respondents in settling the underlying case and satisfying the homeowner are proper damages. Actual damages are properly called compensatory damages, meaning to compensate, to make the injured party whole, to put him in the same position he was in prior to the damages received insofar as this is monetarily possible. The goal is to restore the injured party, as nearly as possible through the payment of money, to the same position he was in

before the wrongful injury occurred. *Vaught v. A.O. Hardee & Sons, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 475, 480, 623 S.E.2d 373, 375-76 (2005).

Respondents offered testimony and evidence that a relevant portion of the settlement paid in the underlying case was the release of \$25,584.00 still owed to Gilliam by the Abels. (Supp. R.p. 18, lines 8-14.) Further, Mr. Gilliam testified that Mr. Abel admitted that he owed the \$25,584.50 in a letter which was admitted into evidence as Plaintiff exhibit #3. (Supp. R.p. 20, lines 1-15; R.p. 351) Mr. Gilliam testified that he signed a release of the Abels for the \$25,584.00 owed by them to Gilliam Construction as part of Respondents' concessions and consideration for the settlement. (Supp. R.p. 31, lines 4-25; R.p. 352-363) Appellant offered no evidence or testimony that the \$25,584.50 was not part of the consideration for the release.

Mr. Gilliam also offered testimony that he incurred damages separate from the \$235,000 in the form money owed and costs incurred on issues separate from the windows. Those damages were not alleged against Appellant in the contribution case. Therefore, the Appellant's argument that the \$25,584.50 should not be included as damages is without support and should be denied. As the evidence supported the Court's findings, the court's ruling should not be disturbed.

V. Respondents had no right to require additional Defendants in the case to lower its proportionate liability

Appellant had no right and can cite no authority which gave it a right to keep additional defendants in the case to lower its proportionate liability. The court correctly found that all of the evidence and testimony supported a finding that Eagle's defective windows were the sole cause of the damage and needed repairs and the damages awarded. Both Mr. Still and Mr. Gilliam testified that the stucco or the window installation was not the cause of the water

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